# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-29-2011

# Blankenship v. Washington Trust Bank Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38426

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Nature of the Case.

This dispute relates to whether or not actions taken by Washington Trust Bank as the Trustee

of a testamentary trust were in violation of the terms of the trust or Idaho law.

(ii) The Course of Proceedings.

A Petition for Removal of Trustee and Preliminary Injunction was filed by Teresa R.

Blankenship, as one of the beneficiaries against Washington Trust Bank.<sup>1</sup> The Petition was

subsequently amended seeking the Removal of Trustee, Issuance of a Preliminary Injunction and a

Complaint for Damages.<sup>2</sup> Two of the other beneficiaries namely, Michael Bowman and Eric

Bowman intervened seeking to prevent Washington Trust Bank from selling or encumbering Trust

property and also seeking to quiet title against the lien of the Deed of Trust filed by Washington

Trust Bank.3

The Honorable John T. Mitchell granted Partial Summary Judgment in favor of Washington

Trust Bank holding that the advancement of funds to Ryan Bowman's Trust and the subsequent

preparation of a Promissory Note and the recording of a Deed of Trust against trust property was

<sup>1</sup>R., Vol.1, p. 23-26

<sup>2</sup>R., Vol. 1, p. 158-162

<sup>3</sup>R., Vol. 2, p. 296-300

APPELLANTS' BRIEF Page -1-

authorized by the Last Will and Testament and Idaho law.4

The surviving issues from the Summary Judgment proceeding were subsequently either settled or dismissed and a Final Judgment dismissing all claims was filed November 10, 2010.<sup>5</sup>

#### (iii) Statement of Facts.

The Last Will and Testament of Althea Lorraine Bowman directed that her residuary estate was to be held in trust and divided into equal shares, one share for each of her four (4) children namely, William Michael Bowman, Eric Lane Bowman, Ryan Arthur Bowman and Teresa Renae Bowman Blankenship.<sup>6</sup> Washington Trust Bank was identified as a successor trustee and was serving in that capacity at all times material to this cause of action.<sup>7</sup> The primary assets comprising the Trust were commercial properties located in and around Sandpoint, Idaho, which were generating rental income for the Trust.<sup>8</sup> Pursuant to the terms of the Trust, the Trustee was to pay to the children all of the current net income and the Trustee also had the ability to pay so much of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Tr., p. 63, L. 8-12; See also Order Granting Summary Judgment R., Vol. 3, p. 425-429.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>R., Vol. 3, p. 576-579.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>See the Last Will and Testament of Althea Lorraine Bowman attached to Affidavit of Susan Kuzma, filed January 14, 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Affidavit of Susan Kuzma, filed January 14, 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>See Teresa R. Blankenship's Answer to Interrogatory No. 13 attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of Peter Smith, filed January 29, 2009.

principal as the Trustee determined to be reasonable for support, health, maintenance and education. During administration of the Trust, Washington Trust Bank advanced significantly more dollars to Ryan Bowman than was supported by his "share" of the trust income from the commercial properties comprising the Trust. The dollars advanced to Ryan over time exceeded his portion of the income by One Hundred, Forty Seven Thousand, Five Hundred, Fifty Nine and 24 (\$147,559,24) Dollars. During Spring of 2005, the three other beneficiaries became very concerned with the inappropriate advances being made and notified Washington Trust Bank that they were objecting to any further advancements to Ryan and insisted that any further loans would need to be approved in writing by the other beneficiaries. Despite the written request, Washington Trust Bank continued to advance funds to Ryan Bowman which exceeded his portion of the net income, and Washington Trust Bank began discussing the possibility of selling the commercial property in order to provide the necessary funds to reimburse the bank for the over-advances. Appraisals were completed and written

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Article IV.c.1. and c.2 of Last Will and Testament of Althea Lorraine Bowman, *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Deposition of Susan Kuzma p. 35, L.2-25; p. 36, L. 1-20, attached to Affidavit of Peter Smith filed January 29, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>See Promissory Note attached as Exhibit "1" to Affidavit of Susan J. Kuzma filed March 26, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Deposition of Susan Kuzma, p. 30, L. 3-20, attached to Affidavit of Peter Smith filed February 29, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Deposition of Susan Kuzma, p. 35, L.4-14, attached to Affidavit of Peter Smith filed January 29, 2009; see also Petitioners Response to Interrogatories #5, 13, 18 & 20 attached to

notification of intention to sell real property was provided to the beneficiaries by Jim Black, an attorney for Washington Trust Bank. Finally, in April, 2007, Teresa Blankenship brought suit against Washington Trust Bank seeking their removal as Trustee and also seeking a preliminary injunction prohibiting the sale of real property. Shortly after the Petition for Removal and Preliminary Injunction was filed, Washington Trust Bank, acting as Trustee under the Althea Lorraine Bowman Trust for the benefit of Ryan Bowman, signed a Promissory Note in favor of Washington Trust Bank, Private Banking, in the sum of One Hundred, Forty Seven Thousand, Five Hundred, Fifty Nine and 24/100 (\$147,559.24) Dollars and secured that Promissory Note by signing a Deed of Trust encumbering the commercial real property owned by the Althea Lorraine Bowman Testamentary Trust. Following the recording of the Deed of Trust, William Michael Bowman and Eric Bowman intervened in the case seeking to not only enjoin the sale of the property, but to quiet title and set aside the Deed of Trust.

Affidavit of Peter Smith filed February 29, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Letter from Jim Black attached to Affidavit of Teresa Blankenship filed April 16, 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Petition for Removal of Trustee and Preliminary Injunction (R.Vol.1, p.23-26)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Exhibits 1 and 2 to Affidavit of Susan Kuzma filed March 26, 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>See Complaint of Intervenor (R. Vol.2, p. 296-300)

#### ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Was it error for the District Court to grant summary judgment in favor of Washington Trust Bank ruling that the advance of funds to the Ryan Bowman Trust and the execution of a Promissory Note and Deed of Trust which was recorded against real property owned by the Althea Lorraine Bowman Trust was authorized by the Last Will and Testament and Idaho law.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A.

### SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Pursuant to Rule 56(c), I.R.C.P., summary judgment shall be granted if the "pleadings, depositions and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." The nonmoving party is to be given the benefit of all favorable inferences which reasonably might be drawn from the evidence and all doubts are to be resolved against the moving party. Farm Credit Bank of Spokane v. Stevenson, 125 Idaho 270, 272, 869 P.2d 1365 (1994). If reasonable people could reach different conclusions or draw conflicting inferences from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied. Martinez v. ICRMP, 134 Idaho 247, 249, 999, P.2d 902 (2000).

An issue is "genuine" for summary judgment purposes when there is sufficient evidence supporting a claimed factual dispute to require a jury or judge to resolve parties' differing versions

APPELLANTS' BRIEF Page -5-

of truth at trial or when evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party. Podolan v. Aetna Life Insurance Co., 909 Fed. Sup. 1378(d). Idaho (1995). In considering a summary judgment motion, it is not the function of the trial court to weigh the evidence. Jones v. Runft, Leroy, Coffin & Matthews, Chtd., 25 Idaho 607, 873 P.2d 861 (1994).

When the Appellate Court reviews a trial court's decision on summary judgment, it employs the same standard as that employed by the trial court when originally ruling on the motion. Kolln v. St. Lukes Regional Medical Center, 130 Idaho 323, 327, 940 P.2d 1142, 1146 (1997), citing Thompson v. Idaho Insurance Agency, Inc., 126 Idaho 527,529, 887 P.2d 1034, 1036 (1994).

B.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE ACTIONS TAKEN BY WASHINGTON TRUST BANK WERE AUTHORIZED UNDER THE LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT AND DID NOT VIOLATE THE FIDUCIARY DUTIES OWED UNDER IDAHO LAW.

1.

# WASHINGTON TRUST BANK OWED FIDUCIARY DUTIES TO ALL BENEFICIARIES

Washington Trust Bank, as the successor Trustee of the testamentary trust established by the Last Will and Testament of Althea Lorraine Bowman, owed a fiduciary obligation to all four of the beneficiaries. Not only does that fiduciary obligation arise by Common Law, Idaho has adopted various statutes which make it clear that a Trustee of an express trust owes fiduciary duties to the beneficiaries.

APPELLANTS' BRIEF Page -6-

## FIDUCIARY DUTIES PURSUANT TO THE UNIFORM PRUDENT INVESTOR ACT

The Uniform Prudent Investor Act (I.C. §68-501 et seq.) became effective July 1, 1997, and applies to trusts existing on and created after its effective date. I.C. §68-511. Section 68-501(1) sets forth the general purpose of the Act and provides:

"A trustee who invests and manages trust assets owes a duty to the beneficiaries of the trust to comply with the prudent investor rules set forth in this Act."

The statute then goes on to identify specific obligations and responsibilities that a trustee owes to its beneficiaries. The trusts established by the Last Will and Testament of Althea Lorraine Bowman would be subject to the Uniform Prudent Investor Act.

### (a) Standard of Care.

I. C. §68-502 addresses the standard of care and in subpart (1) provides that a "trustee shall invest and manage trust assets as a prudent investor would, by considering the purposes, terms, distribution requirements and other circumstances of the trust." In satisfying this standard, the "trustee shall exercise reasonable care, skill and caution...and (6) a trustee who has special skills or expertise, or is named trustee in reliance upon the trustee's representation that the trustee has special skills or expertise, has a duty to use those special skills or expertise." In this instance, Washington Trust Bank must exercise its powers using not only reasonable care, skill and caution, but also has

a duty to use its special skills as a commercial trust department.

I.C. §68-502(3) identifies circumstances that a trustee **shall** consider in managing trust assets:

- (a) General economic conditions;
- (b) The possible affect of inflation or deflation;
- (c) The expected tax consequence of investment decisions or strategy;
- (d) The role that each investment or course of action plays within the overall trust portfolio, which may include financial assets, interests in closely held enterprises, tangible and intangible personal property and real property;
- (e) The expected total return from income and appreciation of capital;
- (f) Other resources of the beneficiary;
- (g) Needs for liquidity, regularity of income and preservation of appreciation of capital; and
- (h) An asset's special relationship or special value, if any, to the purposes of the trust or to one or more of the beneficiaries.

The factors enunciated under I.C. §68-502(3) were required to be considered by Washington Trust Bank when it was considering the sale of the real property in order to obtain repayment of the monies loaned to the Ryan Bowman Trust. Those factors were also required to have been considered when making the decision to execute the promissory note and secure it with a deed of trust against the undivided interest in the trust property. While there was some evidence introduced that the Bank considered the sale of real property in order to provide for liquidity, there are genuine issues of material fact remaining as to whether or not it considered general economic conditions, tax consequences associated with sale of the property, whether or not the real property provided a special

relationship or special value to the trust or to one or more of the beneficiaries of the trust. I.C. §68-502(3).

#### (b) <u>Duty of Loyalty</u>.

Another trustee obligation set forth by the Uniform Prudent Investor Act can be found at I.C. §68-505, which is known as the "Duty of Loyalty". This provision provides:

"A trustee shall invest and manage the trust assets solely in the interest of the beneficiaries."

While there is very little case law in Idaho that has interpreted the duty of loyalty, the Official Comment does provide guidance in application of the rule and provides:

"The duty of loyalty is perhaps the most characteristic rule of trust law, requiring the trustee to act exclusively for the beneficiaries, as opposed to acting for the trustee's own interest or that of third parties."

Courts have consistently held that the Duty of Loyalty deserves uncompromising rigidity which is especially true in the case of a trust where a trustee has a large advantage over the beneficiary. There is a classic ruling by Judge Cardozo on the principle of fiduciary loyalty in Meinhard v. Salmon, 249 N.Y. 458, 464, 164 N.E. 545, 546 (1928):

Many forms of conduct permissible in a workaday world for those acting at arms length are forbidden to those bound by fiduciary ties. A trustee is held to something stricter than the morals of the market place. Not honesty alone, but the punctilio of an honor most sensitive, is then the standard of behavior. As to this there has been developed a tradition that is unbending and inveterate. Uncompromising rigidity has been the attitude of courts of equity

when petitioned to undermine the rule of undivided loyalty by the "disintegrating erosion" of particular exceptions. Only thus has the level of conduct for fiduciaries been kept at a level higher than that trodden by the crowd. It will not consciously be lowered by any judgment of this Court.

### (c) <u>Duty of Impartiality</u>.

Where there is more than one beneficiary, another duty owed by a trustee under the statutory requirements of the Uniform Prudent Investor Act is the "Duty of Impartiality" which is set forth at I.C. §68-506 and provides:

"If a trust has two or more beneficiaries, the trustee shall act impartially in investing and managing the trust assets, taking into account any differing interests of the beneficiaries."

Again, the Official Comment is helpful in understanding how this Code section applies to a trustee's fiduciary obligations to its beneficiaries:

"The duty of impartiality derives from the duty of loyalty. When the trustee owes duties to more than one beneficiary, loyalty requires the trustee to respect the interests of all the beneficiaries. Prudence in investing and administration requires the trustee to take account of the interests of all the beneficiaries for whom the trustee is acting, especially the conflicts between the interests of beneficiaries interested in income and those interested in principal."

The Duty of Loyalty, as well as the Duty of Impartiality are applicable to all duties of the trustee. In the case at bar, the fiduciary duties owed to all four beneficiaries are important:

- (i) In the making or retention of investments;
- (ii) In the management of real property or personal property held in trust:
- (iii) In the allocation of receipts and expenditures between principal and

APPELLANTS' BRIEF Page -10-

- income accounts, especially when the fiduciary has discretion in the making of adjustments;
- (iv) In decisions concerning discretionary distributions to one or more beneficiaries;
- (v) In controversies among beneficiaries concerning their rights and beneficial interest; and
- (vi) In decisions concerning the sale or mortgage of properties benefitting the trust.

These issues were raised in the amended petition,<sup>18</sup> the Complaint of Intervenors,<sup>19</sup> Petitioner's Responses to Interrogatories,<sup>20</sup> and the deposition of Susan Kuzma.<sup>21</sup> Each of those determinations are question of fact which preclude the entry of summary judgment. <u>Bushi v. Sage Healthcare, PLC</u>, 146 Idaho 764, 203 P.3d 694 (2009).

3.

### WHETHER A FIDUCIARY DUTY WAS BREACHED IS A QUESTION OF FACT.

In order to establish a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, a plaintiff must establish that defendants owed plaintiff a fiduciary duty and that the fiduciary was breached. <u>Bushi v. Sage</u> Healthcare, PLC, 146 Idaho 764, 203 P.3d 694 (2009), citing Tolley v. THI Co., 140 Idaho 253, 261,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>R., Vol. 1, p. 158-162

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>R. Vol. 2, p. 296-300

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>See Teresa R. Blankenship's Answers to Interrogatories attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of Peter Smith, filed January 29, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Deposition of Susan Kuzma p. 22, 23, 24, 30, 35 and 47, attached to Affidavit of Peter Smith, filed January 29, 2009.

92 P.3d 503, 511 (2004). Not only under Common Law, but under the statutory provisions identified under the Uniform Prudent Investor Act, it is clear that Washington Trust Bank, as the successor trustee to the Althea Lorraine Bowman Testamentary Trust, owed fiduciary duties to each of the four beneficiaries.

By Common Law and Statute, the first prong for establishing that Washington Trust Bank owed a fiduciary duty to each of the beneficiaries pursuant to <u>Bushi</u>, *Id.* has been met. The second prong of whether the fiduciary duty has been breached is a question of fact that precludes entry of summary judgment. <u>Bushi v. Sage Healthcare</u>, <u>PLC.</u>, *Id.* citing <u>First Bank and Trust of Idaho v. Jones</u>, 111 Idaho 481, 484, 725 P.2d 186, 189 (Ct.App.1986). When Washington Trust Bank made the decision to sell various parcels of real property, did it consider the factors set forth under I.C. §68-502? Did Washington Trust Bank consider only the interest of the beneficiaries when it made its decision to prepare a promissory note in the amount of \$147,559.24; when it made the decision to set the interest rate at 8.25%; or when it established that the final payment was to be due on July 25, 2016? And, finally, did it breach its duties of Loyalty and Impartiality when it recorded a deed of trust thereby encumbering not only Ryan Bowman's interest, but the undivided interest of all the other beneficiaries in the underlying real property?

Appellants are to be given the benefit of all favorable inferences which reasonably might be drawn from the evidence and all doubts are to be resolved against WTB. <u>Farm Credit Bank of Spokane v. Stevenson</u>, 125 Idaho 270, 272, 869 P.2d 1365 (1994). See also <u>Bushi v. Sage</u>

Healthcare, PLC, 146 Idaho 764, P.3d 694 (2009). A reasonable inference from the evidence presented is that Washington Trust Bank significantly exceeded reasonable and prudent actions by continuing to advance monies to Ryan Bowman way beyond his portion of the income being generated by the assets and after being requested by the other beneficiaries to stop advancing monies in excess of normal distribution. It is also reasonable to infer that Washington Trust Bank made the decision to sell the commercial property in order to repay the amounts that they improperly advanced. At the time the decision to sell property was made, they were no longer acting solely in the best interest of the beneficiaries as required by I.C. §68-505 and §68-506, but were acting in the best interest of Washington Trust Bank in order to repay the monies owed by Ryan. This lawsuit was then initiated to enjoin Washington Trust Bank from selling property. Four (4) months after the litigation was commenced Washington Trust Bank breaches its fiduciary obligations to the beneficiaries and not only executes a formal promissory note but encumbers the commercial properties of the Althea Lorraine Bowman Testamentary Trust with a deed of trust issued in favor of Washington Trust Bank's Private Banking Division.

Washington Trust Bank has taken the position that they do not have the power to force sale of the property but, that is simply not true.<sup>22</sup> In the event of a default, under the terms of the deed of trust and under <u>Idaho Code</u> §45-1501 et seq., Washington Trust Bank, as a creditor, would have the right to foreclose the deed of trust. Once the foreclosure against the Ryan Bowman interest was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>See Reply Brief of Respondent, p. 6, filed February 25, 2009.

completed, Washington Trust Bank would have the right to seek a partition action pursuant to <u>Idaho</u>

<u>Code</u> §6-501 and, ultimately, force the property to be sold in order to satisfy the amounts which were improperly advanced.

C.

# THE EXERCISE OF STATUTORY POWERS AS TRUSTEE ARE STILL SUBJECT TO THE FIDUCIARY DUTIES OWED TO ALL BENEFICIARIES.

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