9-28-2011

# Blankenship v. Washington Trust Bank Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38426

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

---

<sup>53</sup> *Id.* at 588.

real property trust assets.<sup>54</sup> Therefore, pursuant to the plain language of Idaho Code § 68-106(c)(18), WTB was within its express statutory authority to borrow money for the benefit of Ryan's trust share.

2. Both the Will and Idaho Law Provided WTB With the Authority to Encumber Ryan's Trust Assets By Granting a Deed of Trust.

Not only was WTB authorized to borrow against trust assets and to advance funds to the trust, Idaho Code § 68-106(c)(7) also authorizes the Trustee to “encumber, mortgage, or pledge a trust asset for a term within or extending beyond the term of the trust, in connection with the exercise of any power vested in the Trustee.” Based upon the statutory authority set out in sections 68-106(c)(18) and (c)(7), WTB possessed the legal authority to borrow money, advance funds, and to encumber a trust asset. Section 68-106(c)(18) explicitly states that the Trustee may borrow money to be repaid by trust assets, and the Deed of Trust is an authorized encumbrance of trust assets that simply secures the repayment.

In this case, WTB borrowed and advanced funds for “the protection of the trust” and “because of the holding or ownership of trust assets,” pursuant to § 68-106(c)(18). The terms of the Will required that WTB distribute principal to Ryan for his support, health, and maintenance and to use trust assets to provide for Ryan in the case of a financial hardship. When the principal in Ryan's trust share dwindled to the real property assets,<sup>55</sup> WTB was required to distribute them to him in order to provide for his support, health, and maintenance. However, because those assets were also held by the Trustee for the benefit of Teresa, Michael, and Eric's trust shares, and those parties threatened to sue and objected to liquidation, WTB could not make a principal or income distribution to Ryan. Thus, in order to comply with Teresa, Michael, and Eric's demands that the real property not be sold, and also to ensure Ryan's support, health, and

---

<sup>54</sup> Kuzma Aff., Exs. A & B.

<sup>55</sup> See Smith Aff., Ex. C at 54:8–12.

maintenance, WTB advanced its own funds to Ryan's trust share, and secured the encumbrance against Ryan's trust share in full compliance with Idaho Code § 68-106(c)(7).

In conclusion, as a matter of law, WTB possessed the power and authority under the Will and Idaho code to loan/advance its own funds to Ryan's trust share and to record a Deed of Trust to secure its loan/advance by encumbering the interest held by Ryan's trust share. Because the Trustee acted with specific and express authority granted under the Will, and pursuant to specific and express legal authority granted under Idaho Code, the trial court properly granted summary judgment and dismissed the Petitioner/Intervenors' claim seeking damages for breach of fiduciary duty. And because no breach of fiduciary duty occurred as a matter of law, the trial court's summary judgment order should be affirmed.

3. Article V of the Will is Inapplicable To the Facts of This Case and Thus There Has Been No Violation of Its Provisions.

The advance of funds to Ryan's trust share and the accompanying Deed of Trust do not violate Article V of the Will because that provision is a spendthrift provision that applies only to actions taken by Ryan Bowman as an individual/beneficiary; it does not apply to actions taken by WTB as trustee on behalf of Ryan's trust share. Article V is a standard spendthrift trust provision that states in its entirety:

*Neither the income nor principal of any trust created by this instrument shall be alienable by any beneficiary, whether by assignment or by any other method, and shall not be subject to be taken by his creditors or by any representative thereof, by any process whatever, including, but not limited to, proceedings in bankruptcy. This provision shall not limit the exercise of any power of appointment or the right to disclaim.<sup>56</sup>*

(Emphasis added).

Article V unambiguously applies only to a beneficiary's ability to alienate trust assets.

(Emphasis added). It places no limits on the actions that may be taken by the Trustee, and

---

<sup>56</sup> Kuzma Aff., Ex. A, art. V.

because it is the actions of WTB as trustee that are being challenged in this appeal, Article V does not apply. The plain terms of the Note and Deed of Trust state that they were granted by WTB as Trustee, not by Ryan as beneficiary. Under Idaho law, the Trustee is the legal owner of trust assets. *See Indian Springs LLC v. Indian Springs Land Inv., LLC*, 147 Idaho 737, 745, 215 P.3d 457, 465 (2009). Accordingly, the Trustee is vested with ordinary powers of ownership such as the power to borrow funds against trust assets and to encumber trust assets. *See supra* Part III.B.1 & 2. If Article V were interpreted to prohibit the Trustee's ability to alienate trust assets, as Michael and Eric assert it does, it would directly conflict with Article VI which vests the Trustee with all the powers "imposed and granted by law," and Idaho Code §§ 68-106(c)(7) and (18).<sup>57</sup> Thus, the Court must construe Article V by its plain terms, which limit only a beneficiary's actions.

**C. Dismissal of Michael and Eric's Claim for Breach of Fiduciary Duty Was Correct Because They Have Not Been Injured or Damaged by WTB's Actions and Thus Have Neither Standing Nor a Right to Their Requested Relief.**

Not only did the trial court correctly rule that WTB's actions were authorized by the Will and Idaho law, summary judgment in favor of WTB on the claim for breach of fiduciary duty was proper because Michael and Eric suffered no injury or damages on account of WTB's actions. In the absence of injury, Michael and Eric's breach of fiduciary duty claim fails because (1) they do not have standing to bring suit, and (2) they are not entitled to their requested relief as a matter of law. Although the trial court's grant of summary judgment was not based on these theories, this Court has established that it is not constrained by the legal theories relied upon by the trial court and may affirm a lower court's decision on a legal theory different from the one applied by that court. Thus, the trial court's order dismissing the claim for breach of fiduciary

---

<sup>57</sup> *Id.* art. VI, § A.

duty must be affirmed. *In re Suspension of Driver's License of Gibbar*, 143 Idaho 937, 948, 155 P.3d 1176, 1187 (Ct. App. 2006).

1. Michael and Eric Lack Standing To Bring a Claim for Breach of Fiduciary Duty.

The issue of whether a party has standing is jurisdictional and therefore may be raised at any time, including on appeal. *E.g.*, *Beach Lateral Water Users Ass'n v. Harrison*, 142 Idaho 600, 603, 130 P.3d 1138, 1141 (2006). In any event, the issue of whether Michael and Eric have standing was briefed and argued before the trial court at summary judgment.<sup>58</sup> “To satisfy the requirement of standing, ‘litigants generally must allege or demonstrate an injury in fact and a substantial likelihood that the judicial relief requested will prevent or redress the claimed injury.’” *Miles v. Idaho Power Co.*, 116 Idaho 635, 641, 778 P.2d 757, 763 (1989).

In this case, there is no factual dispute relating to damages; instead, the parties disagree about the legal effect of WTB holding a Deed of Trust on the one-fourth real property interest of Ryan’s trust. Thus, the issue is purely one of law and is well-suited for review by this Court. Michael and Eric cannot demonstrate injury in fact that would allow a court to award damages to them because there has been no injury to either of their beneficial interests in the trust assets. Neither is there any future risk of injury to their beneficial interests because the Note and Deed of Trust granted to WTB only apply to Ryan’s one-fourth trust share, and does not apply to Michael and Eric’s trust shares.

The Will is explicitly clear that the trust estate was divided into four separate shares upon Althea’s death—one for each of her children—and that each share is to be independently managed and distributed for the respective child.<sup>59</sup> In this case, although Michael and Eric allege

---

<sup>58</sup> R., Vol. II, p. 216–48; *id.* at 287–92; Tr. Hr’g re: Mot. for Summ. J. (Mar. 2, 2009).

<sup>59</sup> Article IV of the Will makes repeated references to “each share,” “each trust,” “the child’s trust,” and “his or her trust,” all indicating that each child’s beneficiary interest is separate and distinct from the other children’s interests. *Kuzma Aff.*, Ex. A. art IV.

that a breach of fiduciary duty occurred when the Note and Deed of Trust were granted against Ryan's trust shares, their trust shares remain wholly unaffected by the alleged breach, and thus, Michael and Eric have not been injured by WTB's actions. By its explicit terms, the Deed of Trust pertains only to the undivided one-fourth interest of Ryan's trust share. Neither Michael nor Eric ever had any rights or interest in Ryan's one-fourth trust share which is the collateral described in the Deed of Trust. As Ryan is the only person who has a beneficiary interest in the collateral, he is the only person who could be affected, i.e., injured by WTB's actions as Trustee in this matter. Ryan is the only person who could have standing to contest the Trustee's actions regarding his one-fourth trust share, yet, Ryan has never appeared or otherwise objected to WTB's actions in this case.

Michael and Eric's inability to raise a genuine issue of fact on the question of injury/standing is only highlighted by what they have alleged as their injury. They assert that they have been injured by the existence of the Deed of Trust because "[o]nce the foreclosure against the Ryan Bowman interest was completed, Washington Trust Bank would have the right to seek a partition action pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-501 and, ultimately, force the property to be sold in order to satisfy the amounts which were improperly advanced." Appellants' Brief, at 13–14. Thus, it appears that Michael and Eric rely solely on the assertion that a potential sale of the real property, at some unknown time in the future, could cause them injury, as the record is void of any other arguments or evidence as to any currently existing injury or damages. This argument is purely speculative and fails to raise any issue as to whether Michael and Eric's beneficial interests have ever been impaired.

In order for Michael and Eric's alleged injury to occur, several purely speculative events would have to occur at some unknown time in the future. WTB would first have to foreclose on

the Deed of Trust. The record is devoid of any indication of if, let alone when, such foreclosure may or may not occur. Thus, it is purely speculative. It is also important to note the effect of foreclosing the Deed of Trust. Upon foreclosure, WTB could then become a cotenant of the real property described in the Deed of Trust. WTB would hold only a one-fourth interest because that is all that was granted in the Deed of Trust, and the Trustee would hold the other three-fourth interests of trust shares for Teresa, Michael, and Eric. Should this occur, Michael and Eric would be in precisely the same situation that they would be in if the Note and Deed of Trust had never been granted—as the beneficiaries of a trust share that has a one-fourth interest in the property. No harm or injury would exist to Michael or Eric.

Michael and Eric’s alleged injury requires a second purely speculative event to occur as well. After foreclosure, WTB as a future owner would have to initiate a partition action. Both the occurrence and the result of a future partition action are highly speculative and based upon conjecture. But regardless, even if the real property was sold pursuant to partition that would not *per se* cause injury to Michael and/or Eric. Michael and Eric do not own the real property; title is vested in the Trustee.<sup>60</sup> They have a right to their share of the income and, in some instances, principal of trust assets. There is nothing in the Will that gives any beneficiary a vested interest in the real property not being sold/liquidated. In fact, the Trustee is vested with all powers under the law, which includes the power to sell real estate trust assets for cash. Idaho Code § 68-106(c)(7). Thus, even if a partition sale occurred, Michael and Eric’s rights under the express trust terms would not change. Michael and Eric would remain the beneficiaries of their trust shares which have a one-fourth interest in the sale proceeds.

Because Michael and Eric cannot demonstrate a “distinct palpable injury” to their beneficial trust interests, they lack standing to bring a claim for breach of fiduciary duty in this

---

<sup>60</sup> See *Indian Springs LLC v. Indian Springs Land Inv., LLC*, 147 Idaho 737, 745, 215 P.3d 457, 465 (2009).

case. *E.g.*, *Young v. City of Ketchum*, 137 Idaho 102, 104, 44 P.3d 1157, 1159 (2002). As a result, the trial court’s order dismissing their claim for breach of fiduciary duty must be affirmed as a matter of law.

2. Michael and Eric Cannot Establish an Injury That Would Entitle Them to Recover Damages on Their Claim for Breach of Fiduciary Duty.

Not only does Michael and Eric’s lack of injury deny them standing in this case, it is also fatal to their claim for breach of fiduciary duty because they have requested relief in the form of damages. On the issue of damages, this Court has stated, “Assuming the wrongs were established[,] there could be no recovery without a showing of resultant injury.” *Barron v. Koenig*, 80 Idaho 28, 40, 324 P.2d 388, 395 (1958); *see also Williams v. Bone*, 74 Idaho 185, 188, 259 P.2d 810, 812 (1953) (“The compensatory damages suffered by plaintiff, if any, are limited to the pecuniary loss due to the wrongful acts of defendant.” (emphasis added)). Other courts, when addressing the measure of damages for a trustee’s alleged breach of the duty of loyalty, have held that damages “should be based on what would have occurred if the trustee had complied with the duty of loyalty (i.e., but for the breach of the duty of loyalty).” *Uzyel v. Kadisha*, 116 Cal. Rptr. 3d 244, 277 (Ct. App. 2010). Here, Michael and Eric are in precisely the same position they were in prior to the alleged breach because their beneficiary interests were not affected, much less adversely affected, by WTB’s actions.

Furthermore, Michael and Eric’s claimed damages are far too speculative to support a cause of action. Damages cannot be awarded when they cannot be determined by reasonable certainty, and reasonable certainty requires some evidence that brings the matter out of the realm of speculation. *See Griffith v. Clear Lakes Trout Co., Inc.*, 146 Idaho 613, 618, 200 P.3d 1162, 1167 (2009). Here, Michael and Eric’s asserted injury is entirely within the realm of speculation because it is conditional on two future events occurring—foreclosure of the Deed of Trust and

partition. Both of these events are entirely speculative and may never occur. These speculative future events are therefore insufficient to support any claim for damages. Because Michael and Eric cannot establish damages with any amount of reasonable certainty, they are not entitled to their requested relief, and thus the trial court's grant of summary judgment dismissing their breach of fiduciary claim was proper and must be upheld.

**D. Michael and Eric Impermissibly Raise Arguments Pursuant to Idaho Code § 68-502(3) For the First Time On Appeal.**

Michael and Eric raise issues and legal theories in their Appellate Brief that were not raised or addressed at the trial court, and thus, cannot be considered on appeal. As this Court has held, “[a] cause of action not raised in a party’s pleadings may not be considered on summary judgment nor may it be considered for the first time on appeal.” *O’Guin v. Bingham County*, 139 Idaho 9, 15, 72 P.3d 849, 855 (2003); *see also Obenchain v. McAlvain Constr., Inc.*, 143 Idaho 56, 57, 137 P.3d 443, 444 (2006) (“Appellate court review is limited to the evidence, theories, and arguments that were presented below.”)

In their *Complaint*, Michael and Eric sought the following relief: (1) an injunction preventing WTB from selling or encumbering trust real property; (2) an order quieting title in regards to WTB’s Deed of Trust; and (3) damages for breach of fiduciary duty/negligent operation and management of trust.<sup>61</sup> The *Complaint* alleges nothing in regards to whether WTB considered the factors set forth in Idaho Code § 68-502(3). Michael and Eric made no arguments regarding Idaho Code § 68-502(3) at the summary judgment proceedings. As a result of Intervenor/Appellants’ failure to raise this issue at the trial court level, they are precluded from raising this issue for the first time on appeal.

---

<sup>61</sup> R., Vol. II, p. 299. Eric joined Michael’s *Complaint* thus made no additional claims. *See id.* at 322–23.